REVI SED DECEMBER 14, 2001
IN THE UNI TED STATES COURT OF APPEALS

FOR THE FI FTH Cl RCU T

No. 01-30100

UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA

Pl ai ntiff—-Appel | ant

JESSE JAMES SM TH, KEISHA L. SM TH

Def endant s- Appel | ees

Appeals fromthe United States District Court
for the Eastern District of Loui siana

Novenber 14, 2001
Bef ore KING Chief Judge, and DUHE and BENAVIDES, Ci rcuit Judges.

KING Chief Judge:

Plaintiff—-Appellant, the United States of Anerica,
appeal s the district court’s suppression of evidence supporting
drug charges brought agai nst Def endant s—Appel | ees Jesse Janes
Smth and Keisha L. Smth. For the follow ng reasons, we REVERSE
the district court’s ruling granting Defendants’ notion to

suppress and REMAND for further proceedings.!?

1 Al'though the notion to suppress was originally filed
only by Def endant —-Appel |l ee Jesse Smth, counsel for
Def endant —Appel | ee Kei sha Smith advised the district court at the



| . Factual and Procedural History

Def endant s—Appel | ees Jesse Janes Smth and Keisha L. Smith
(“the Smths”) took a one-week cruise aboard the MS Cel ebration
fromthe Port of New Ol eans to several Caribbean destinations,

i ncludi ng Jamai ca. This cruise, conducted by Carnival Cruise

Li nes, began on Septenber 17, 2000 and continued until Septenber
24, 2000. In order to expedite the off-Iloading of hundreds of
passengers when cruise ships return to port, Carnival Cruise

Li nes regul arly makes passenger manifests available to the United
States Custons Service (“U. S. Custons”) once a ship is underway.
U.S. Custons searches the manifests for any indication that
narcotics snuggl ers are aboard.

In this case, U S. Custons |Inspector Mke Powell (“Inspector
Powel | 7) reviewed the passenger manifest for the MS Cel ebration
and noticed that the Smths had profiles typical of narcotics
smuggl ers. Jesse Smith had a prior conviction and was on parole
at the tine.? Keisha Smth had travel ed by plane to Jamaica just
four nonths before the cruise. The Smths paid cash for their
cruise tickets shortly before departing. Additionally, the

ship’s Caribbean destinations, particularly Janmaica, are known

start of the evidentiary hearing of her intention to join in the
not i on.

2 \Wen view ng the passenger mani fest, the inspectors
surm sed that Jesse Smth left the country in violation of his
parole but did not confirmthis until |ater.

2



source and transit countries for narcotics.® After discovering
these facts, Inspector Powell pre-selected the Smths for further
i nvesti gati on.

In the early hours of Septenber 24, 2000, the final day of
the cruise, the MS Celebration returned to New Oleans. |Its
passengers had been instructed to | eave their |uggage outside
their roons the night before and to vacate their roons by 8:00
a.m |Inspector Powell and other inspectors boarded the ship at
6:00 a.m The inspectors requested the records for the Smths’
cabin fromthe ship’s purser’s office. The inspectors |earned
t hat al t hough Jesse Smith's “sign and sail” account* showed
frequent use until the ship left Jamaica, the account renained
inactive after that tine, indicating to inspectors that the
Smiths remained in their room® Mreover, the Smths placed a
call or calls costing $142.50 to a single nunber in Jamaica on

the day the ship arrived in Mintego Bay.

3 The MS Celebration also stopped in Gand Caynan and
Cozunel , Mexi co.

4 Crui se conpani es conmonly enploy “sign and sail”
accounts to sinplify the process by which passengers pay for
their drinks, souvenirs, and special activities during the
cruise. At the beginning of the cruise, passengers fund the
accounts with a cash deposit or a credit card and then charge
beverages and ot her expenses to the account during the voyage.

5> The record of Keisha Smth's “sign and sail” account, if
it existed, was never viewed by the inspectors and is not in the
court record.



After obtaining this additional information fromcruise
records, the inspectors located the Smiths’ cabin to conduct a
search. They knocked on the door and asked the Smths to dress
and exit the cabin in order to allow a trained canine to search
the roomfor drugs.® The dog first indicated the presence of
drugs on the bed and then in a | ocker, where inspectors found
four woven baskets. Coils containing 6.8 kilograns of cocaine
were woven into the baskets. The search took approximately two
or three m nutes.

On Cctober 19, 2000, the Smths were charged with conspiracy
to inport at least five kilogranms of cocaine on board a vessel in
violation of 21 U . S.C. 88 952(a), 960(a)(1l), and 963 and with
possession with the intent to distribute at |east five kil ograns
of cocaine in violation of 21 U S.C. 8§ 841(a)(1) and 18 U. S. C
§ 2. Jesse Smith pled not guilty to the charges. On Novenber
13, 2000, Jesse Smth made a notion, joined by Keisha Smth, to
suppress all the evidence seized fromthe Smths’ cruise cabin.
The Governnent argued only that reasonabl e suspicion existed to
support the search. After a hearing on the notion, the district
court found that the inspectors did not have reasonabl e suspicion
to support the search and granted the notion to suppress. United

States v. Smith, No. CRIM A 00-339, 2000 W. 1838708, at *3 (E.D

6 Neither party asserts that the Smths consented to the
search of their cabin. Thus, we do not consider the issue.
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La. Dec. 13, 2000). The CGovernnent tinely filed notice of

interlocutory appeal of the district court’s ruling.’

1. Standard of Review
In an appeal of a ruling on a notion to suppress, this court
reviews a district court’s factual findings for clear error and

its legal conclusions de novo. United States v. Jacquinot, 258

F.3d 423, 427 (5th Gr. 2001). Wether there was reasonabl e
suspicion for a search, a legal conclusion, is reviewed de novo.

Onelas v. United States, 517 U. S. 690, 699 (1996). At all tines

during this analysis, we view the evidence in a |light nost
favorable to the prevailing party, i.e., the

Def endant s—Appel | ees. Jacqui not, 258 F.3d at 427. This court
reviews any argunents not raised before a district court at a

suppression hearing for plain error only. United States v.

Kelly, 961 F.2d 524, 528 (5th Gr. 1992).

" Def endant —Appel | ee Kei sha Smth has adopted on appeal
the argunents submtted by co-defendant and co-appell ee Jesse
Smi t h.



I11. The District Court’s Analysis
Cenerally, routine searches at U S. borders, or the
functional equivalent of a border,® are reasonabl e under the
Fourth Amendnent and do not require a search warrant, probable
cause, or even an articul able suspicion. Cardenas, 9 F.3d at

1148; United States v. Mintoya de Hernandez, 473 U.S. 531, 537

(1985). This court has held, however, that sone extrenely
i ntrusive border searches are not “routine” and nust be
predi cat ed upon reasonabl e suspicion of crimnal activity. See,

e.q., United States v. Sandler, 644 F.2d 1163, 1166 (5th G

1981) (noting that border strip searches are not “routine” and
requi re reasonabl e suspicion”). Citing a case fromthe N nth
Circuit® and a case fromthe Eastern District of Louisiana,?!° the
district court found that “a search of a passenger’s cabin aboard
a ship is not routine given the intrusive nature of the search.”
Smth, 2000 W. 1838708, at *1. “Accordingly, even in the context

of a border search, the search of private living quarters on a

8 The first port where a ship docks after arriving froma
foreign country is the “functional equivalent” of the border.
United States v. Cardenas, 9 F.3d 1139, 1147-48 (5th Gr. 1993).
The parties do not dispute that the search of the Smths’ cabin
was a border search

® United States v. A fonso, 759 F.2d 728, 738 (9th Cir.
1985) (stating that “the search of private living quarters on a
ship should require sonething nore than naked suspicion”).

10 United States v. Cunningham Crim A No. 96-265, 1996
W. 665747, at *3 (E.D. La. Nov. 15, 1996) (concluding that the
proper standard to apply to a search of a cruise cabin at a
border is reasonabl e suspicion).




ship nust at | east be supported by reasonabl e suspicion of
crimnal activity.” 1d. The district court found that the U S
Custonms i nspectors | acked reasonabl e suspicion to support the
search of the Smths’ cabin. |1d. at *3.

On appeal, the Governnent has changed its tune and now
argues that because this is a routine border search, reasonable
suspicion is unnecessary. The Governnent failed to present this
argunent to the district court. Under these circunstances, the
district court’s application of the reasonabl e suspicion standard
is subject to plain error review. Kelly, 961 F.2d at 528
(adopting the plain error standard when considering “an argunent
that the Governnent failed to raise at a suppression hearing”).
This deferential standard of review dictates that before this
court can correct an error not raised at trial, there nust be (1)
an “error,” (2) that is “plain,” (3) that “affect[s] substanti al
rights,” and (4) that “seriously affect[s] the fairness,
integrity, or public reputation of judicial proceedings.” United

States v. QA ano, 507 U. S. 725, 732 (1993) (internal citations and

quotations omtted). Wile it may well be the case that applying
a reasonabl e suspicion standard to the search of the Smths

cabin at the functional equivalent of a border is plain error, we
need not decide the issue. OQur determ nation that reasonable
suspicion existed in this case assures that the district court’s
error did not affect the Governnent’s substantial rights or the
fairness, integrity, or public reputation of judicial
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proceedi ngs. Thus, the search of the Smths’ cabin was valid,
and the district court erred in suppressing the evidence seized

pursuant to that search

| V. Reasonabl e Suspicion
Reasonabl e suspicion entails “sonme mninal |evel of
objective justification” that consists of “nore than inchoate or
unparticul ari zed suspicion or ‘hunch,’” but less than the | evel

of suspicion required for probable cause. United States v.

Sokolow, 490 U.S. 1, 7 (1989)(internal citations and quotations
omtted). Reasonable suspicion nust be based upon “specific
facts which, taken together with rational inferences therefrom
reasonably warrant an intrusion.” Cardenas, 9 F.3d at 1153. W
consider the totality of the circunstances in determ ning whet her
reasonabl e suspicion existed at the tinme of the search. 1d. at
1148.

In this case, U S. Custons inspectors uncovered nunerous
facts raising the suspicion that the Smiths were involved in
narcotics snmuggling. First, the Smths took a cruise bound for
Jamai ca. At the suppression hearing, Inspector Powell testified
that Jamaica is a transit point for Col onbi an cocai ne and heroin
bound for the United States. Inspector Powell also indicated
that Jamaica is a source country for “quite a bit” of marijuana

that comes into the United States. Second, Keisha Smth travel ed



by air to Jamaica just four nonths before she took the cruise
that stopped in Jamaica. |Inspector Powell noted that frequent
trips to the sanme source or transit country within a short period
of tinme are unusual. Third, although an “overwhel mng majority”
of cruise passengers buy their tickets wth sone type of credit
instrument, the Smths purchased their cruise tickets with cash
| nspector Powell testified that such behavior is typical of
narcotics snugglers attenpting to “hide a financial trail.”
Fourth, the Smths bought their tickets just over two weeks
before the date of departure. Mst cruise passengers purchase
tickets well in advance to allow for sufficient planning.
According to Inspector Powell, the Smths’ “late or last-mnute
booki ng” is consistent with narcotics smuggling because the
narcotics business “is a very fluid business — business plans
aren’'t set firm” Fifth, Jesse Smth had an “extensive crimna
hi story” that included “arrests and convictions” and was on
parole at the tine of the cruise. Because foreign travel is
generally a violation of parole, Inspector Powell surm sed that
Jesse Smth’s purpose in taking the cruise “nust have been pretty
significant, which could have been narcotics snuggling.” Sixth,
just before docking in Montego Bay, the Smths placed an unusual
“shoreside” call or calls costing $142.50 to a single nunber in

Jamai ca. Inspector Powell felt the call was “very significant”



and was possibly “a contact with a provider of narcotics
shoresi de. " 1!

Finally, Inspector Powell argues that the Smths’ “sign and
sail” account raises suspicion. Before docking in Mntego Bay,
Jamai ca, the account “showed a consistent pattern of behavior”
simlar to that of npbst cruise passengers. The “sign and sail”
account docunented that the Smths purchased drinks from various
bars throughout the ship at regular intervals. After |eaving
Mont ego Bay, the Smths’ “sign and sail” account showed no
further activity, suggesting to inspectors that the Smths
remained in their roomfor the duration of the cruise. |In cross-
exam nation, Inspector Powell admtted that after |eaving Mntego
Bay, the balance in the Smths’ “sign and sail” account had
dropped to zero. The district court states that this fact is
“devastating to the Governnent’s position” because “the nost
likely inference [is] that all activity ceased on the account
after Septenber 20th because the deposited funds were exhausted.”
Snmth, 2000 W. 1838708, *3. W nust draw all reasonabl e
inferences in favor of the Smths, and the zero bal ance on the
account reasonably explains the lack of further activity on that
account. Thus, the fact that account activity ceased after
| eavi ng Jamai ca does not raise any suspicion and does not support

our conclusion of reasonabl e suspicion. However, because the

11 The U.S. Custons inspectors never attenpted to ascertain
to whomthe call or calls were made.
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i nspectors woul d have had reasonabl e suspicion even if the Smths
had continued normal use of the “sign and sail” account for the
duration of the cruise, we do not find the zero bal ance
“devastating to the Governnent’s position.”

In United States v. Sokolow, 490 U S. 1 (1989), the Suprene

Court confronted facts simlar to those in the instant case. In
Sokol ow, the defendant and his acconplice nmade a round-trip
flight to Mam fromHonolulu with tickets purchased the sane day
of the flight. 1d. at 4. After the defendant paid $2100 for the
two tickets froma roll of $20 bills, the airline ticket agent
notified the Honolulu Police Departnment of the suspicious
transaction. |d. Further investigation revealed that the

def endant travel ed under a nane that did not nmatch the name under
whi ch his tel ephone nunber was listed, that he stayed in M am

for only forty-eight hours, that he appeared nervous during his
trip, and that he and his conpani on did not check any of their

|l uggage. I1d. at 3. These facts, coupled with the know edge t hat
Mam is a source city for illicit drugs, |ed Drug Enforcenent
Adm ni stration agents to search the defendant’s | uggage when he
returned to Honolulu. 1d. The search yielded 1063 grans of
cocaine. |1d. Reversing the Ninth Grcuit, the Suprenme Court

found that although “[a]lny one of these factors is not by itself

proof of any illegal conduct and is quite consistent with
i nnocent travel[,] . . . taken together they anobunt to reasonabl e
suspicion.” |1d. at 9.
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Several of the suspicious facts in this case mrror those
i nvol ved in Sokolow, including the Smths’ |ast-m nute purchase
of cruise tickets with cash and the notoriety of their Jamai can
destination as a narcotics source. Although each action taken by
the Smths, standing alone, could be consistent with innocent
behavior, all of the actions taken together justified |Inspector
Powel | s “very strong suspicion” that the Smths were involved in
narcotics snmuggling. Inspector Powell also based his concl usions
upon nine nonths of simlar work. The Suprene Court has noted
that a trained investigator may be “able to perceive and
articulate neaning in given conduct which would be wholly

i nnocent to the untrai ned observer.” Brown v. Texas, 443 U. S.

47, 52 n.2 (1979). Thus, Inspector Powell’ s experience with
| ocating narcotics on cruise ships further substantiates his
suspi ci ons.

For these reasons, we find that the totality of the
circunstances in this case creates a reasonabl e suspicion of
crimnal activity. Thus, assum ng arguendo that reasonable
suspi cion was required, the search of the Smths’ cabin was
valid. The district court’s suppression of all evidence seized

pursuant to the search was erroneous.
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V. Concl usi on
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We REVERSE the district court’s ruling granting the Smths
notion to suppress the evidence and REMAND for further
pr oceedi ngs.

Benavi des, G rcuit Judge, concurs in the judgnent only.
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